Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



International Soil and Water Conservation Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/iswcr



**Review Article** 

### A review of concentrated flow erosion processes on rangelands: Fundamental understanding and knowledge gaps



Sayjro K. Nouwakpo<sup>a,\*</sup>, Christopher J. Williams<sup>b</sup>, Osama Z. Al-Hamdan<sup>c</sup>, Mark A. Weltz<sup>d</sup>, Fred Pierson<sup>b</sup>, Mark Nearing<sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> University of Nevada, Reno, Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Science, 1664 N. Virginia Street, Reno, NV 89557, USA

<sup>b</sup> USDA, ARS, Northwest Watershed Management Research, 800 Park BLVD., STE 105, Boise, ID 83712, USA

<sup>c</sup> Texas A&M University – Kingsville, Department of Civil and Architectural Engineering, Kingsville, TX 78363, USA

<sup>d</sup> USDA, ARS, Great Basin Rangelands Research, 920 Valley Road, Reno, NV 89512, USA

<sup>e</sup> USDA, ARS, Southwest Watershed Research, 2000 East Allen Road, Tucson, AZ 85719, USA

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 March 2016 Received in revised form 24 May 2016 Accepted 25 May 2016 Available online 17 June 2016

Keywords: Erosion Rangeland Concentrated flow Rill Gully

### ABSTRACT

Concentrated flow erosion processes are distinguished from splash and sheetflow processes in their enhanced ability to mobilize and transport large amounts of soil, water and dissolved elements. On rangelands, soil, nutrients and water are scarce and only narrow margins of resource losses are tolerable before crossing the sustainability threshold. In these ecosystems, concentrated flow processes are perceived as indicators of degradation and often warrant the implementation of mitigation strategies. Nevertheless, this negative perception of concentrated flow processes may conflict with the need to improve understanding of the role of these transport vessels in redistributing water, soil and nutrients along the rangeland hillslope. Vegetation influences the development and erosion of concentrated flowpaths and has been the primary factor used to control and mitigate erosion on rangelands. At the ecohydrologic level, vegetation and concentrated flow pathways are engaged in a feedback relationship, the understanding of which might help improve rangeland management and restoration strategies. In this paper, we review published literature on experimental and conceptual research pertaining to concentrated flow processes on rangelands to: (1) present the fundamental science underpinning concentrated flow erosion modeling in these landscapes, (2) discuss the influence of vegetation on these erosion processes, (3) evaluate the contribution of concentrated flow erosion to overall sediment budget and (4) identify knowledge gaps.

© 2016 International Research and Training Center on Erosion and Sedimentation and China Water and Power Press. Production and Hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### Contents

1.	Introduction	76
2.	Physically-based modeling of concentrated flow erosion on rangeland	76
	2.1. Concentrated flow hydraulics	76
	2.2. Soil detachment rate	77
3.	Effect of vegetation on rangeland hydrology and erosion processes	78
	3.1. Vegetation effects on water input and runoff generation	78
	3.2. Vegetation effects on sediment availability for concentrated flow processes	78
	3.3. Effects of vegetation community structure on concentrated flow processes	79
	3.4. Disturbance impacts on concentrated flow processes	80
4.	Contribution of concentrated flow to total erosion	81
5.	Knowledge gaps and conclusions	81

Peer review under responsibility of International Research and Training Center on Erosion and Sedimentation and China Water and Power Press.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.jswcr.2016.05.003

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

E-mail address: snouwakpo@cabnr.unr.edu (S.K. Nouwakpo).

<sup>2095-6339/© 2016</sup> International Research and Training Center on Erosion and Sedimentation and China Water and Power Press. Production and Hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

5.1.	Initiation and spatial distribution of concentrated flowpaths	. 81
5.2.	Improved linkage between concentrated flow processes and resource redistribution	. 82
References	S	. 83

### 1. Introduction

Hillslope runoff and soil erosion processes play a vital role in rangeland ecosystem sustainability due to their control on resource mobility (Hassan, Scholes, & Ash, 2005) but they also have significant implications in off-site resource transport. Nichols, Nearing, Polyakov, and Stone (2013) found for example that hillslope processes contributed to 85% of sediment delivery from a 43.7 ha semi-arid shrub-dominated watershed. The influence of vegetation on hillslope runoff and sediment production forms the basis of current hydrology and erosion modeling technologies on rangelands (Nearing et al., 2011). Early attempts to apply empirical soil erosion models derived primarily from cropland data, such as the Universal Soil Loss Equation - USLE and the Revisited Universal Soil Loss Equation - RUSLE, on rangelands yielded unsatisfactory and contested results (Blackburn, 1980; Foster, Simanton, Renard, Lane & Osborn, 1981; Hart, 1984; Johnson, Savabi & Loomis, 1984; Mitchell & Roundtable, 2010; Spaeth, Pierson, Weltz & Blackburn, 2003; Trieste & Gifford, 1980). Weltz, Kidwell, and Fox (1998) point to the lumped nature and rigid structure of these empirical models as a key deficiency when applied to rangelands where biotic and abiotic interactions play a strong control on surficial processes.

The advent of physically-based soil erosion models such as the Water Erosion Prediction Project model-WEPP (Laflen, Lane, & Foster, 1991) offered the opportunity to develop the scientific framework necessary to provide insight into the relationship between hydrologic processes and rangeland condition. These research efforts led to the Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model (RHEM) (Al-Hamdan et al., 2015; Nearing et al., 2011), developed from experimental data specifically collected on rangeland sites across the Western U.S. As a process-based erosion model, RHEM models erosion and hydrology using the same fundamental principles as WEPP. Runoff generation and erosion on the hillslope are modeled in response to hydrological inputs and hydraulic parameters that are adjusted based on soil intrinsic properties and land surface conditions.

In both WEPP and RHEM, the hillslope is divided into (1) interrill areas, where rainsplash detachment and sheetflow transport occur and (2) concentrated flow areas where flow is deep and fluvial processes dominate. Accurate partitioning of hillslope erosion into interrill and concentrated-flow-dominated processes has a significant implication on rangeland erosion modeling especially following disturbances. Several studies (e.g, Al-Hamdan, Pierson, Nearing, and Williams (2012b), Pierson et al. (2013a, 2013b); Williams, Pierson, & Spaeth, 2016; Williams et al., 2014a, 2016a, 2016b) have demonstrated a significant increase in concentrated flow erosion when shrub-dominated rangeland are disturbed by fire or woody species encroachment compared to undisturbed conditions.

Concentrated flow erosion is a complex process because flow networks have a dual function of sediment and runoff production and storage as well as that of transport of these resources off-site. These intricately coupled functions are traditionally assumed to be controlled by rill flow hydraulics (Govers, Giménez, & Van Oost, 2007). In fact the presence of rills and gullies and the abundance thereof are key indicators of rangeland health (Pellant, Shaver, Pyke, & Herrick, 2005). As a surface process, concentrated flow erosion is directly influenced by biotic factors such as vegetation, forming feedback mechanisms that are seldom explored.

The aim of this paper is to review published experimental and conceptual research dealing with concentrated flow erosion processes on rangelands. In this paper, the term interrill erosion is used interchangeably with sheet and splash erosion to refer to the process of raindrop splash detachment and subsequent transport in sheetflow. Likewise, the term concentrated flow erosion encompasses a range of processes leading to the formation and erosion of rills and gullies, therefore these two terms were used to refer to specific forms of concentrated flow erosion. In this review we present (1) understanding of the fundamental science underpinning concentrated flow erosion modeling on rangeland with an emphasis on WEPP and advancements of the RHEM model, (2) the influence of vegetation on concentrated flow erosion, (3) the contribution of concentrated flow erosion to sediment budget and (4) knowledge gaps.

## 2. Physically-based modeling of concentrated flow erosion on rangeland

In physically based erosion models, overland flow in upland areas is a combination of concentrated flow (rill and gullies) and rainsplash sheetflow (interrill) (e.g., Laflen et al. (1991) and Nearing et al. (2011)). Concentrated flow is deeper and faster than overland sheetflow (Julien and Simons, 1985). In most cases the dominant form of overland flow on rangeland with adequate vegetation cover is sheetflow (e.g., Moffet, Pierson, Robichaud, Spaeth, and Hardegree (2007), Pierson et al. (2011, 2013a, 2008b), Pierson, Moffet, Williams, Hardegree, and Clark (2009), Williams et al. (2014, 2014b, 2016a)). However, continuous concentrated flowpaths play a significant role in amplifying soil erosion when they exist, especially on steep slopes or where ground cover is sparse. Therefore, predicting concentrated flow erosion on rangeland is paramount for physically based erosion modeling.

Concentrated flow plays two interactive functions in generating soil erosion. First, it can act as a transport agent for sediments detached by rainsplash and sheetflow. Second, it can act as a soil detachment agent and becomes a sediment source. Hydraulics of concentrated flow plays a key factor in both functions. For instance, flow velocity and rill width are required components to predict sediment detachment, entrainment, and transport (Line, & Meyer, 1988; Nearing, Foster, Lane, & Finkner, 1989). Therefore, modeling concentrated flow erosion requires accurate predictions of the hydraulic parameters. Here we present a description of approaches that have been used for modeling the physics of concentrated flow erosion on rangeland.

#### 2.1. Concentrated flow hydraulics

n 2/2 n1/2

Many of the physically based erosion models use open channel flow hydraulics concepts such as Manning's equation to model hydraulics in concentrated flow (e.g., De Roo et al. (1994), Foster (1982b), Hairsine & Rose (1992) and Morgan et al. (1998)). In such concepts velocity  $V (ms^{-1})$  of concentrated flow is related to the geometry of the flow channel and the hydraulic roughness of the channel surface:

$$V = \frac{R_h^{2/3} S^{1/2}}{n}$$
(1)

where  $R_h$  is the hydraulic radius (m) which equals the area divided by the wetted perimeter, *S* is slope gradient, *n* is Manning's number which represents the channel surface hydraulic roughness.

Other physically based erosion models use the Darcy–Weisbach roughness coefficient (*f*) to relate flow rate to flow geometry (i.e., Laflen et al. (1991)):

$$V^2 = \frac{8gR_hS}{f} \tag{2}$$

where g is gravitational acceleration.

The Darcy-Weisbach approach requires quantification of flowpath geometry such as the flowpath width. Flow width is usually predicted using empirical equations that relate flow geometry to flow rate. For example, the WEPP model (Flanagan, & Nearing, 1995; Laflen et al., 1991) predicts rill flowpath width using the following equation from Gilley, Kottwitz, and Simanton (1990):

$$w=1.130^{0.303}$$
 (3)

where *w* is flow width (m) and  $Q(m^3 s^{-1})$  is flow discharge.

Historically, rangeland model parameterization of concentrated flow processes was based on the extensive studies conducted to describe rill or concentrated flow hydraulics on croplands (e.g. Foster, Huggins and Meyer (1984a), Foster, Huggins and Meyer (1984b), Gilley et al. (1990), Giménez and Govers (2001), Gimenez, Planchon, Silvera and Govers (2004). Govers (1992). Hessel. letten and Guanghui (2003). Lane and Foster (1980). Line and Meyer (1988). Nearing et al. (1997). Takken, Govers, Ciesiolka, Silburn and Loch (1998) and Weisheng and Tingwu (2002)). Such approaches can result in poor predictions as rangeland and croplands have different soil and vegetation cover characteristics (Moffet et al., 2007). In the past few years, efforts have been increased to develop physically-based overland flow erosion models, such as RHEM, specifically parameterized for rangeland processes (Nearing et al., 2011; Al-Hamdan et al., 2015; Williams, Pierson, Robichaud et al., 2016a). Although RHEM models hydrology and erosion using the same fundamental concepts as WEPP, RHEM applies different hydrologic and erosion parameterizations and uses different hydraulics predictions that were developed specifically for rangelands (Al-Hamdan et al., 2015). The current version of RHEM uses the following equation developed by Al-Hamdan et al. (2012a) to predict the concentrated flow width (w):

$$w = \frac{2.46Q^{0.39}}{S^{0.4}} \tag{4}$$

This equation is an advancement over Eq. (3) in that it captures the effect of slope as well as discharge on concentrated flowpath width for rangelands.

#### 2.2. Soil detachment rate

In most physically-based models soil detachment rate for concentrated flow is predicted using hydraulic parameters such as shear stress and stream power. In such approaches, concentrated flow erosion is often considered to be a threshold phenomenon where the soil detachment rate can be related to the exceedance of a hydraulic parameter value with respect to its critical value. The general formula for these models is:

$$D_c = K_{HP} (HP - HP_c)^{\rm u} \tag{5}$$

where Dc is concentrated flow detachment rate capacity (kg s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>),  $K_{HP}$  is the soil erodibility factor based on the hydraulic parameter HP,  $HP_c$  is the threshold value where  $D_{cf}$  is insignificant before HP exceeds it, and a is the power exponent. Several forms of Eq. (5) have been developed, using different hydraulic parameters such as: flow shear stress ( $\tau_s$ ) (kg s<sup>-2</sup> m<sup>-1</sup>) (e.g., Flanagan and Nearing (1995) and Nearing et al. (1989)), stream power ( $\omega$ ) (kg s<sup>-3</sup>) (e.g., Elliot and Laflen (1993), Hairsine and Rose (1992) and Nearing et al. (1997)), unit stream power ( $\Omega$ ) (m s<sup>-1</sup>) (e.g., Moore and Burch (1986) and Morgan et al. (1998)), unit length shear force ( $\Gamma$ ) (kg s<sup>-2</sup>) (e.g., Giménez and Govers (2002)), and unit discharge (q) (m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) (e.g., Line and Meyer (1989)). Most of these equations were obtained from research

conducted on cropland soils in field and/or laboratory studies using flumes.

Evaluation of performance for these hydraulic parameters to predict concentrated flow detachment rate in various experimental conditions (Al-Hamdan et al., 2012b; Wirtz et al., 2013) resulted in no single parameter consistently best-fitting observed detachment rates. However, Al-Hamdan et al. (2012b) showed that stream power provides the best relationship among these five hydraulic parameters to describe concentrated flow detachment rate for disturbed rangeland. Al-Hamdan et al. (2012b) also found that when concentrated flow occurs that the threshold value ( $HP_c$ ) can be ignored and the exponent of relationship (a) is not significantly different than 1, reducing the equation when using stream power to:

$$D_c = K_{\omega}(\omega) \tag{6}$$

The current version of RHEM uses this equation to calculate detachment capacity. Al-Hamdan et al. (2012) provided parametrization equations for estimating erodibility factor ( $K\omega$ ) based on site vegetation cover condition and soil texture ((Eqs. (7) and 8)).

$$\log(K_{\omega}) = -4.05 - 0.81 \cdot cover - 11.87 \cdot clay + 5.19 \cdot silt$$
(7)

$$\log(K_{o}) = -3.29 - 2.25 \cdot cover - 1.82 \cdot rock + 3.95 \cdot silt$$
(8)

where *cover* is the fraction of the soil surface covered by plant stems and residues, *rock* is the fraction of soil surface covered with rocks, *clay* and *silt* are respectively the clay and silt contents of the soil. Eq. (7) is used on undisturbed rangelands while Eq. (8) is used on burned rangelands. One can note the negative coefficients of *cover* in both equations, indicative of the beneficial effect of vegetation in reducing concentrated flow erodibility.

Al-Hamdan et al. (2012b) introduced a dynamic computational structure in RHEM for concentrated flow erosion modeling on freshly burned rangelands that start with an initially high  $K_{\omega_{Max}}$  to which an exponential decay function is applied to reduce  $K_{\omega}$  with cumulative runoff. This dynamic erodibility concept addresses the observation that soil erodibility and sediment availability are greatly increased immediately after a freshly disturbed site (Al-Hamdan et al., 2012b). Observed interrill and concentrated flow soil erosion observed immediately following such disturbances were consequently high but decline rapidly over the course of the first few rainfall events due to various factors including decrease in sediment availability. The following equation was proposed to estimate  $K_{\omega}$  and  $K_{\omega_{Max}}$ :

$$K_{\omega} = K_{\omega Max} e^{\mu q_c} \text{ and}$$

$$\log(K_{\omega Max}) = -3.64 - 1.97 \cdot cover - 1.85 \cdot rock - 4.99 \cdot clay + 6.06 \cdot silt \qquad (9)$$

where  $\beta$  is a constant and  $q_c$  is cumulative runoff.

The detachment capacity is used to calculate the detachment rate  $(D_r)$  (kg s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) in RHEM by (Foster, 1982a):

$$D_r = \begin{bmatrix} D_c \left( 1 - \frac{CQ}{T_c} \right), CQ \le T_C \\ \frac{0.5V_f}{Q} (T_c - CQ), CQ \ge T_C \end{bmatrix}$$
(10)

where *C* is the sediment concentration (kg m<sup>-3</sup>), *Q* is the flow discharge (m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), *Tc* is the sediment transport capacity (kg s<sup>-1</sup>), and *V<sub>f</sub>* is the soil particle fall velocity (m s<sup>-1</sup>) that is calculated as a function of particle density and size (Fair, Geyer, & Okun, 1971). Soil particle fall velocity is calculated using the mean particle size (*D*<sub>50</sub>) of the soil texture. In this equation concentrated flow detachment rate (*D<sub>r</sub>*) is calculated as the net detachment and deposition rate.

To calculate the transport capacity  $(T_c)$  in RHEM, the empirical

equation developed by Nearing et al. (1997) is used:

$$\log_{10}\left(\frac{10T_{\rm C}}{w}\right) = -34.47 + 38.61 \left(\frac{\exp\left[0.845 + 0.412\log(1000\omega)\right]}{1 + \exp\left[0.845 + 0.412\log(1000\omega)\right]}\right)$$
(11)

Methods of estimating concentrated flow erosion in RHEM have evolved over the last several years. The earliest version of RHEM used a shear stress approach and provided satisfactory estimates of total soil erosion (Belnap, Wilcox, Van Scoyoc, & Phillips, 2013; Hernandez et al., 2013, Felegari, Talebi, Dastorani & Rangavar, 2014; Weltz et al., 2014). The most recent version of RHEM include the dynamic erodibility concept described above and is based on the stream power to estimate concentrated flow erosion. The new approach has improved erosion estimates for concentrated flow erosion with a satisfactory range of error (Al-Hamdan et al., 2015).

# 3. Effect of vegetation on rangeland hydrology and erosion processes

Vegetation affects rangeland concentrated flow processes through its influence on water availability for runoff and sediment transport, regulation of sediment availability, routing of overland flow, and control of overland flow velocity and erosive energy (Al-Hamdan et al., 2012a, 2012b, 2013; Emmett, 1970; Pierson et al., 2009; Wainwright, Parsons & Abrahams, 2000; Williams et al., 2014a). Here, we provide an overview of these ecohydrologic relationships. We focus on the effects of vegetation in controlling not only runoff generation and erosion processes, but also its influence on infiltration and sediment deposition. Formation of concentrated flow is strongly dependent on the spatial connectivity of runoff and sediment sources across point (  $< 1 \text{ m}^2$ ) to patch scales (10 s square meters) (Pierson et al., 2010, 2013a; Williams et al., 2014a, 2016a). We therefore initiate our discussion at the point scale and progress with discussion of point scale contributions to concentrated flow processes at the patch to hillslope scales.

### 3.1. Vegetation effects on water input and runoff generation

Vegetation and associated ground cover strongly regulate concentrated flow formation by limiting water available for runoff and sediment transport. Sediment delivery from rangelands is governed by the connectivity of runoff and erosion processes and the availability of erodible soil (Al-Hamdan et al., 2015, 2012;b Williams et al., 2016a). Vegetation disrupts connectivity of runoff through interception and storage of water input. The percentage of event rainfall captured by vegetation and associated ground cover generally decreases as rainfall intensity increases (Carlyle-Moses, 2004; Owens, Lyons, & Alejandro, 2006). For low-intensity, short-duration rainfall events, most of the precipitation is captured by plant canopies, litter, and other ground cover and is lost to evaporation (Dunkerley, 2008; Owens et al., 2006). Water input during highintensity or prolonged rainfall events usually exceeds interception storage capacity, resulting in delivery of water to the ground surface via throughflow and stemflow (Carlyle-Moses, 2004; D. Dunkerley, 2000; D.L. Dunkerley, 2008; Wainwright, Parsons, & Abrahams, 1999; Whitford, Anderson, & Rice, 1997; Martinez-Meza and Whitford, 1996). Interception by individual shrubs and conifers commonly averages 50-60% of water input for low-intensity rainfall events and 5-35% for high intensity or pro-longed rainfall events (Hamilton & Rowe, 1949; Owens et al., 2006; Rowe, 1948; Skau, 1964; Taucer, Munster, Wilcox, Owens & Mohanty, 2008; Tromble, 1983). Water arriving at the ground surface during an event either ponds at the soil surface, is stored in the litter layer, infiltrates into the soil, or is transferred downslope as runoff. Organic matter contributions and soil fauna activity are typically greater in vegetated and litter covered areas relative to bare areas and facilitate macropore development and soil properties associated with enhanced infiltration (Blackburn, 1975; Cammeraat & Imeson, 1998; Imeson, Lavee, Calvo, & Cerdà, 1998; Puigdefabregas et al., 1999; Belnap, Welter, Grimm, Barger, & Ludwig, 2005; Dunkerley, 2002; Ludwig, Wilcox, Breshears, Tongway, & Imeson, 2005). Litter layers underneath vegetation also trap water input and thereby delay runoff generation. Prolonged storage at the ground surface allows water to slowly infiltrate, even in the presence of water repellent soils (Leighton-Boyce, Doerr, Shakesby, & Walsh, 2007; Pierson et al., 2010: Pierson et al., 2013a: Pierson, Robichaud, Moffet, Spaeth, & Williams, 2008: Pierson, Williams, Kormos, & Al-Hamdan, 2014; Williams et al., 2014). Hydraulic conductivity and infiltration rates can be as much as 25- to 30-fold lower for water repellent versus wettable soils (DeBano, 1971; Madsen, Chandler & Belnap, 2008). The litter layer in vegetated areas buffers repellency effects on infiltration by trapping water input and allowing it to slowly infiltrate via macropores and breaks in the water repellent layer or slow wetting of the soil profile (Doerr, Shakesby & Walsh, 2000; Meeuwig, 1971; Pierson et al., 2008a; Williams et al., 2014a). Collectively, interception and enhanced infiltration in vegetated areas commonly results in two- to more than 20-fold less event runoff relative to bare or sparsely vegetated areas across the point to patch scales (Pierson & Williams, 2016).

### 3.2. Vegetation effects on sediment availability for concentrated flow processes

Vegetation regulates sediment availability for concentrated flow erosion through protection of the soil surface from raindrop impact and the erosive energy of overland flow. Surface protection and soil stabilization by cover elements are paramount in minimizing erosion given that raindrop impact is the primary sediment contributor to shallow overland flow and ultimately a source for concentrated flow (Kinnell, 2005; Wainwright, Parsons, & Abrahams, 2000; Williams et al., 2016a). Vegetation and ground cover can reduce rainfall erosivity by nearly 50% (Wainwright et al., 1999). In addition to reducing raindrop impact, vegetation and ground cover facilitate roughness elements that trap and slow runoff and promote sediment deposition (Al-Hamdan et al., 2013; Emmett, 1970; Parsons, Abrahams & Wainwright, 1996; Pierson et al., 2007, 2009; Wainwright et al., 2000). Plants and associated organic material also contribute to the soil shear strength by anchoring soils and promoting aggregate stability (Blackburn, 1975; Cammeraat et al., 1998; Cerdà, 1998; Puigdefabregas et al., 1999; Pierson et al., 2010, 2013a, 2013b; Pierson et al., 2014; Williams, Pierson, Al-Hamdan et al., 2014). Parsons, Abrahams, and Simanton (1992); Parsons, Abrahams, and Wainwright (1994) evaluated the effect of cover elements on rainsplash erosion during high intensity rainfall simulations. Parsons et al. (1992, 1994) found the rainsplash erosion rate on arid, well-vegetated grassland was  $0.01-0.04 \text{ g m}^{-2} \text{ min}^{-1}$  for 73–86 mm  $h^{-1}$  rainfall intensities. The same studies measured  $0.34 \text{ g m}^{-2} \text{ min}^{-1}$  erosion rate on a degraded arid shrubland for a simulated event with 145 mm  $h^{-1}$  intensity (see Wainwright et al. (2000)). Rainsplash during the shrubland experiments eroded about 1.6-fold more sediment from areas between plant canopies than from areas underneath plant canopies (Parsons et al., 1992). Results from numerous other studies indicate that erosion rates from rainsplash and sheetflow at the point scale can be two-fold to more than three orders of magnitude greater for bare areas than areas underneath vegetation or with litter cover (Pierson & Williams, 2016). Actual differences vary with cover, soil, rainfall, and topography characteristics. Erosion from combined rainsplash, sheetflow, and concentrated flow processes is typically negligible where ground cover exceeds 50% (Gifford (1985), Pierson et al. (2009, 2011, 2013a, 2013b), Weltz et al. (1998), Williams, Pierson, & Robichaud (2014); Fig. 2(A)).

## 3.3. Effects of vegetation community structure on concentrated flow processes

In arid and semiarid rangelands, where vegetation is typically sparse, a synergistic relationship has traditionally been observed between spatial distribution of vegetation and runoff structuring. This vegetation driven spatial heterogeneity (VDSH) stems from differential soil development and evolution processes between areas under canopies and bare ground (e.g., Bhark and Small (2003), Caldwell, Young, McDonald, and Zhu (2012), De Ploev (1984), and Nulsen, Bligh, Baxter, Solin, and Imrie (1986)) resulting in feedback mechanisms perpetuating or further accentuating the bare ground under canopy soil dichotomy (Puigdefabregas et al., 1999). In addition, observations in semiarid rangelands suggest that deposition mounds form upstream of plant clumps as a result of energy losses and changes in transport capacity that accompany overland flow diversion by plant stems (e.g., Meire, Kondziolka, and Nepf (2014) and Rominger and Nepf (2011)). The entrapment of nutrients along with sediments in these mounds creates areas of nutrients concentration where plants thrive spatially alternated by bare or poorly vegetated zones of water and nutrient depletion, forming the premise of the "resource islands" or "vegetation island" concept (e.g., Li, Zhao, Zhu, Li, and Wang (2007) and Ridolfi, Laio, and D'Odorico (2008)).

From a hydraulic standpoint, these "vegetation islands" can further exacerbate the concentrated flow process (Fig. 1). Examples of this negative feedback loop are seen most often in shrub-dominated landscapes in the United States, which have formed coppice dunes such as sagebrush (Artemisia spp.), saltbush (*Atriplex* spp.), creasotebush (*Larrea tridentate*, DC. Coville), mesquite (*Prosopis glandulosa* Torr.), greasewood (*Sarcobatus vermiculatus*, Hook. Torr.) and in pinyon (*Pinus* spp.) and juniper (*Juniperus* spp.) woodland dominated areas in arid and semi-arid rangelands (Li et al., 2013; Davenport, Breshears, Wilcox & Allen, 1998; Eldridge et al., 2004; Pierson, Van Vactor, Blackburn & Wood, 1994; Schlesinger, Raikes, Hartley & Cross, 1996; Spaeth, Weltz, Fox & Pierson, 1994).

Experimental research at the Walnut Gulch Experimental Watershed in southern Arizona revealed that coarsening of the spatial structure of vegetation in shrublands led to increase in flow concentration and erosion rates (Abrahams, Parsons, & Wainwright, 1995; Parsons, Abrahams, & Wainwright, 1996; Wainwright et al., 2000). VDSH influences not only runoff partitioning into sheet and concentrated flow processes but also seems to control flow characteristics in hillslope rills and channels. The same landscape with uniform disturbance may experience significantly more runoff and soil loss from a similar runoff event due to increased connectivity of bare soils and formation of well-organized concentrated flowpaths. These organized flowpaths rapidly accelerate runoff velocity and the ability of water to erode and transport sediment downslope (Davenport et al., 1998; Urgeghe, Breshears, Martens & Beeson, 2010; Wilcox, Davenport, Pitlick & Allen, 1996). Tongway, and Ludwig (1997) found for example that on degraded tussock grasslands, overland flow was concentrated in long straight paths between the grasses. In the good condition grassland overland flow was tortuous, uniformly distributed, and produced less soil loss.

Plant community physiognomy affects concentrated flow by controlling the connectivity of runoff and sediment sources and the energy of overland flow where it does occur (Williams et al., 2016a, 2014a, 2016b). On well vegetated rangelands, downslope transmission of runoff and erosion generated by rainsplash and sheetflow in isolated bare or sparsely vegetated patches is limited by ground cover or roughness elements that promote infiltration and deposition (Pierson et al., 1994, 2009; Reid, Wilcox, Breshears



Fig. 1. Vegetation island redirecting concentrated flow around it resulting in deposition on the downslope side.

& MacDonald, 1999; Wilcox, Breshears & Allen, 2003). Soil detachment by concentrated flow is well correlated with flow velocity (Pierson et al., 2009, 2008b) and discharge (Al-Hamdan, Pierson, Nearing, & Williams, 2012; Govers et al., 2007; Nearing et al., 1997; Nearing, Simanton, Norton, Bulygin, & Stone, 1999), and flow velocity is strongly related to discharge (Al-Hamdan et al., 2012; Giménez et al., 2001; Govers et al., 2007; Govers, 1992; M. Nearing et al., 1997; M.A. Nearing et al., 1999). Grass clumps, plant bases, root mounds, and litter dams create topographic highs that may concentrate overland flow where runoff occurs, but the transport and erosive energy of concentrated flow are greatly reduced when flow intersects these roughness elements (Abrahams & Parsons, 1991; Abrahams & Parsons, 1994; Al-Hamdan et al., 2012b, 2012b, 2013; Bryan, 2000; Emmett, 1970; Nearing et al., 1997; Parsons et al., 1996; Wainwright et al., 2000). Reduced flow velocities and energy limit detachment and transport and allow surface runoff to disperse and sediment to fall out of suspension. Rangeland studies from the Great Basin Region, USA, have reported two-fold higher concentrated flow velocities for experiments on bare plots (80% bare ground) relative to well-vegetated plots 20-60% bare ground (Pierson et al., 2009, 2007). In those studies erosion from concentrated overland flow was four-fold to eight-fold greater for bare than well-vegetated plots. Sediment transported by concentrated flow where it does occur on wellvegetated sites often forms miniature alluvial fans adjacent to vegetative clumps (Emmett, 1970; Meire et al., 2014; Rominger & Nepf, 2011; Seyfried, 1991). These features indicate that concentrated flow does redistribute surface soil from bare areas to vegetated zones on hydrologically stable rangelands, but hillslope soil loss from this process is minor under such conditions (Pierson et al. (2009, 2007); Fig. 2(b)). Al-Hamdan et al. (2013) infers that the existence of a channel network is dictated not by hydraulic stresses exerted by runoff on bare soil but rather by the spatial distribution and structure of vegetation to which this network is in equilibrium. Concentrated flow becomes the dominant erosion mechanism on degraded rangelands where ground cover is sparse



**Fig. 2.** Sediment per unit of runoff (A) and concentrated flow velocity (B) versus percent bare ground measured on rainfall simulation plots ( $32.5 \text{ m}^2$ ,  $85 \text{ mm h}^{-1}$  rainfall intensity) and concentrated flow experiments ( $12 \text{ L min}^{-1}$  flow release) on unburned and burned shrublands. Data from Pierson et al. (2009).

# (Pierson et al., 2009, 2011, 2013a, 2008; Williams et al., 2014a, 2014b, 2016a).

#### 3.4. Disturbance impacts on concentrated flow processes

Concentrated flowpaths rarely develop on undisturbed rangelands, but often become the dominant conduit for overland flow and sediment transport after disturbance (Moffet et al., 2007; Pierson et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2014b, 2016a). Such rangeland disturbance includes: animal grazing, fire- and non-fire-induced vegetation removal, vehicle traffic, etc. Sediment yield from concentrated flow processes is several orders of magnitude greater than that of sheetflow and rainsplash and can account for 50-90% of total sediment yield on slopes with sparse to no cover (Pierson et al., 2008b; Thornes, 1980; Wainwright et al., 2000). Following fire disturbance, reduced vegetation and ground cover interception, decreased infiltration rate, and amplified runoff facilitate formation of concentrated flowpaths (Al-Hamdan et al., 2013; Pierson et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2016a). These relationships are enhanced on steep slopes and where overland flow is promoted by soil water repellency (Pierson et al., 2011; Shakesby, & Doerr, 2006; Williams et al., 2014). Greater raindrop impact and increased sediment availability after canopy and ground cover removal result in increased soil detachment and transport from combined rainsplash and sheetflow processes (Pierson et al., 2009, 2013b, 2014;, 2015; Williams et al., 2016, 2014a, 2016b). Reductions in ground cover (decreased surface roughness) abate surface retention of runoff, allowing flow to concentrate and move downslope with greater velocity, erosive energy, and transport capacity (Al-Hamdan et al., 2013; Pierson et al., 2009, 2013a, 2008b; Shakesby et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2014a, 2016a). The potential overall effect is a decrease in the time to runoff initiation and an increase in cumulative runoff and sediment yield over the duration of a storm event.

Cross-scale field experiments on infiltration, runoff, and erosion provide estimates of disturbance impacts on concentrated flow processes (Pierson & Williams, 2016). Pierson et al. (2009) found that moderate burning of a steeply sloping rangeland in Idaho, USA, increased runoff of simulated rainfall ( $85 \text{ mm h}^{-1}$ ) by two-fold on 0.5 m<sup>2</sup> shrub plots immediately following burning. The same storm simulated at the patch scale ( $32.5 \text{ m}^2$ ) generated nearly seven-fold more runoff for the immediate post-fire condition. Increased runoff immediately following burning accumulated in high velocity concentrated flowpaths and generated more than 100-fold more sediment yield than measured for the unburned condition (Fig. 2). Concentrated flowpaths were not observed on unburned plots during the rainfall experiments. Concentrated flow experiments in the same study generated three-fold more runoff and six-fold more erosion for the immediately post-fire condition relative to unburned plots.

The dramatic increase in sediment delivery from the patch scale simulations and concentrated flow experiments were attributed to increased runoff and sediment availability and formation of high velocity flowpaths on the burned plots. Erosion rates and concentrated flow velocity on burned plots returned to near pre-fire levels when ground cover approached 60% two growing seasons after burning (Fig. 2). Pierson et al. (2008b) conducted similar concentrated flow experiments on burned and unburned plots within the first year after a high severity burn on steeply sloping shrublands in Nevada, USA. That study measured nearly 18,000 g of soil erosion on burned plots and 10 g of soil erosion on unburned plots. In another study, Williams et al. (2014a) measured a nearly three-fold increase in point-scale (0.5 m<sup>2</sup>) runoff of applied rainfall  $(102 \text{ mm } h^{-1})$  on burned conifer plots one year post-fire, but burning had no impact on runoff from degraded shrub and interspace (areas between shrubs and trees) plots. Burned plots generated three- to more than 30-fold more erosion than unburned plots. The highest erosion rates were measured on burned conifer and shrub plots with ample available sediment. The same rainfall event applied at the patch scale (13 m<sup>2</sup>) generated two-fold and more than 20-fold more erosion on burned shrub-interspace (plots with shrub and interspace coverage) and conifer plots respectively. The fire-induced increases in patch scale erosion were attributed to cross-scale connectivity of runoff and sediment sources, formation of concentrated flowpaths (Fig. 3), and an increase in available sediment following fire-removal of ground cover (Williams et al., 2014a). The experimental results from Pierson et al. (2009, 2008) and Williams et al. (2014a) illustrate the profound influence that concentrated flow processes have on erosion in the first few years following disturbances like burning (Fig. 2). The overall impact of disturbance on event concentrated flow processes depends largely on the rate or magnitude of water input, surface susceptibility to runoff and sediment detachment and entrainment, and the amount of sediment available (Al-Hamdan, 2012b; Williams et al., 2014b, 2016a).

Overall, on undisturbed arid and semiarid rangelands, it is often assumed that sheetflow and interrill erosion are the dominant processes while disturbances such as fire allow for increased flow concentration and severely weakened soil resistance to rill erosion (Moffet et al., 2007). This understanding of rangeland concentrated flow erosion processes is currently reflected in hydraulic parameterization equations for rill erodibility in RHEM. In fact Al-Hamdan et al. (2015) proposed a dynamic modeling framework to



**Fig. 3.** Concentrated flowpaths formed and are activity eroding as result of loss of protective vegetation and formation of hydrophobic surface soil layer following wildfire in Central Nevada.

match observed temporal declines in erosion rate with time following a major disturbance. In Al-Hamdan et al.'s (2015) model, rill erodibility was initially high immediately after disturbance and exponentially decayed with cumulative runoff over the course of rainfall events.

### 4. Contribution of concentrated flow to total erosion

Erosion processes occur on a continuum of scales from interrill to rill and gullies and large river systems (Wondzell & King, 2003). Once sediments are eroded and collected at the drainage (hillslope, catchment or watershed) outlet, the task of parsing total erosion into its different components becomes complex. Quantifying the contribution of concentrated flow erosion to total erosion often requires the use of techniques that take advantage of the unique morphology of these erosional features compared to the surrounding areas. Concentrated flowpaths are deep and expose lower soil layers to the surface compared to surrounding interrill areas. Environmental radionuclides have been used to estimate the contribution of concentrated flow processes to total erosion (Liu, Yang, Warrington, Liu, & Tian, 2011; Wilson, Papanicolaou, & Denn, 2012; Yang, Walling, Tian, & Liu, 2006). Natural and man-made fallout radionuclides are unevenly distributed within the soil profile so they can be used as effective sediment tracers. The most commonly used radionuclides are caesium-137 (Cs-137) and lead-210 (Pb-210), providing information on sediment redistribution over medium term timescales (25-100 years) (Walling, 2013). In recent years, beryllium-7 (Be-7, a radionuclide with half-life of 53.22 days) has received increased attention for its potential to trace sediments over timescales relevant to a single event, enabling an event-based partitioning of erosion into its components. Using a combination of Be-7 and Cs-137, Yang et al. (2006) found a dominance of interrill processes at the start of erosion and a gradual importance of concentrated flow processes once rills were formed, representing 54.3% of total soil loss on a cultivated plot and 61.4% on an uncultivated forest plot. The temporal shift of erosion processes from interrilldominated at the start of erosion to channel-dominated in later stages of the erosive event has also been found by others (e.g., Liu et al. (2011) and Wilson et al. (2012)). The spatial scales at which erosion processes have been investigated with radionuclides varied from plot and hillslope (e.g., Jha, Schkade, and Kirchner (2015), Liu et al. (2011) and Porto and Walling (2014)) to whole watershed assessments (e.g., Geeraert et al. (2015), Gourdin et al. (2014) and Wilson et al. (2014)). Meteorically-delivered radionuclides such as Be-7 have less often been used in arid and semiarid environments as a short-term sediment tracer because low and highly variable precipitation regimes hinder reliable interpretation of radioactivity measurement (Kaste, Elmore, Vest, & Okin, 2011).

Another commonly used method to guantify the contribution of concentrated flow processes in total erosion involves the estimation of rill and gully volume (e.g., Govers and Poesen (1988), Marzolff and Poesen (2009) and Nyssen et al. (2006)). Di Stefano, Ferro, Pampalone, and Sanzone (2013) conducted a study on a semiarid site to estimate the contribution of concentrated flow processes to total erosion during natural rainfall events. From manual cross-section surveys of rills and gullies with a mechanical rillmeter and a total station, these authors found that the contribution of concentrated flow processes ranged from 23.5% to more than 100%. Di Stefano et al. (2013) attributed the contribution higher than 100% to sediment delivery mechanisms whereby a portion of the eroded sediment in rills does not reach the hillslope outlet. It is important to note that the experimental sites used in Di Stefano et al. (2013) were maintained under cultivated fallow and therefore are considered disturbed.

### 5. Knowledge gaps and conclusions

### 5.1. Initiation and spatial distribution of concentrated flowpaths

Despite the advancement of modeling concentrated flow erosion on rangeland, as represented in RHEM, future work is still needed for improving the prediction of erosion processes. While the model can simulate detachment rate in concentrated flow, it does not model or predict concentrated flow formation or rill initiation. Even though rill density or spacing between concentrated flowpaths is currently a parameter in RHEM, the value of this parameter is usually set as a default value of 1 rill per meter (i.e. the spacing between concentrated flowpaths is 1 m). This value was suggested by Gilley et al. (1990) based on cropland experiments. Assuming a uniform distribution of rills or concentrated flowpaths on cropland might be logical given the uniformity of its characteristics. Rangeland overland flow processes on the other hand vary with vegetation, ground surface conditions, and hillslope topography (Pierson et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2014b). In most cases the dominant form of overland flow on rangelands with adequate vegetation cover is sheetflow. Concentrated flow emerges on steep slopes or where ground cover is sparse (Al-Hamdan et al., 2013; Pierson et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2016a). Using data from experiments conducted on rangeland with a wide span of characteristics, Al-Hamdan et al. (2013) showed that formation of continuous concentrated flowpaths at the plot scale is positively correlated with flow discharge per unit width, slope, and ground cover. Using the same data, the authors developed a logistic equation to estimate the probability of overland flow to become concentrated on rangeland:

$$P = \frac{\exp(-6.397 + 8.3355 + 3.252bare + 3440q)}{1 + \exp(-6.397 + 8.3355 + 3.252bare + 3440q)}$$
(12)

where *S* is slope (m m<sup>-1</sup>), *bare* is fraction of bare soil to total area (m<sup>2</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>), and *q* is flow discharge per unit width (m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>).

In order to address the lack of concentrated flow network modeling for physically based models on rangeland, new approaches such as Eq. (12) might be needed. Alternatively, others have used topographic threshold concepts to predict the location of concentrated flow initiation. These concepts are based on the work of Vandaele, Poesen, Govers, and Wesemael (1996) who proposed an inverse power function between slope *S* and

(13)

contributing area A above channel heads (Eq. (13)).

$$S = \alpha A^b$$

where  $\alpha$  and *b* are constants.

Some authors have used this model to predict rill and gully location at watershed scales (e.g., Daggupati, Douglas-Mankin, and Sheshukov (2013), Dewitte, Daoudi, Bosco, and Van Den Eeckhaut (2015) and Millares, Gulliver, and Polo (2012)). With the advent of low-cost three-dimensional reconstruction technologies and the improvement in the degree of autonomy of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles, one can expect high-resolution topographic data to be increasingly available to accommodate the topographic thresholdbased modeling approach. Nevertheless, Eq. (13) is static in nature and there is a need to develop a dynamic model structure that is suitable for event-based erosion modeling.

# 5.2. Improved linkage between concentrated flow processes and resource redistribution

It is well recognized that an increase in concentrated flow erosion leads to an increase in total erosion (e.g., Al-Hamdan et al., 2015; Pierson et al., 2009, 2011, 2013a, 2008; Williams et al., 2014a, 2014b, 2016a). What is not well understood however is the role of rill and gully formation in delivery of eroded material from interrill areas.

On rangelands, especially those in arid and semi-arid landscapes, vegetation can be sparse and a high degree of variability is observed in soil surface and subsurface conditions. In these ecosystems, the most notable spatial heterogeneity is imposed by plants. Soil under vegetated patches was shown to exhibit enhanced infiltration and greater water storage capacity (Bhark et al., 2003; Caldwell et al., 2012; De Ploey, 1984; MartinezMeza, & Whitford, 1996; Nulsen et al., 1986), increased soil organic carbon and nutrient inputs (Imeson, & Verstraten, 1989; Virginia, & Jarrell, 1983), promoting greater biological activity that further differentiates these areas as resource sinks while the bare interspace act as source of material and water.

Concentrated flow erosion when it occurs, is often confined within the interspace and its course dictated by the spatial arrangement of plants. In a sense, there seems to be a functional specialization of the interspace as flow concentration pathways where resources (primarily water) are collected and redistributed along the hillslope. In fact Schlesinger et al. (1990) proposed that sparse rangeland ecosystems such as shrubland exploit effectively an unpredictable and episodic source of water and nutrient supply to ensure higher production than allowable by average annual inputs. These researchers also noted that shrubs were more productive along intermittent streambeds and in local areas of water accumulation. Resource redistribution across the landscape seems to be an essential component of ecosystem dynamics in sparsely vegetated rangelands. Modeling efforts from Buis, and Veldkamp (2008) demonstrated that redistribution of water and possibly other resources might be key to long-term sustainability of these arid and semi-arid ecosystems.

Redistribution of water and sediment has been empirically understood and applied to mechanical water harvesting practices. An example is the Vallerani plowing technique used to create zones of water collection and flow concentration feeding vegetated patches (Fig. 4). The Vallerani plow creates a divot and pushes up soil to form a berm (i.e., bund) that traps water from the uphill slope (Gammon & Oweis, 2011). This mechanized water harvesting system provides additional water to the shrubs transplanted into the depression that is necessary for their survival. In addition, a ripping blade is part of the system that is pulled through the soil to improve water storage capacity. While this



technique has proven successful in watershed restoration in Jordan and other countries in the Middle East and North Africa (Gammon & Oweis, 2011; Akhtar et al., 2006, 2010), it still relies on empirical and speculative knowledge on concentrated-flow-driven resource redistribution along the hillslope. More research is needed to develop a systematic conceptual and modeling framework that clarifies the role of concentrated flow processes in resource re-

distribution on the hillslope in order to support effective range-

land improvement practices. Erosion and deposition processes are often scale-dependent. On rangelands, field observations and rainfall simulation experiments showed strong runoff decay with hillslope length (Bergkamp, 1998; Cerda, 1997; Puigdefabregas, Sole, Gutierrez, del Barrio, & Boer, 1999). The effect of scale on sediment concentration is not clearly understood as conflicting results have been found. Decrease in sediment delivery was shown by some (e.g., Sadeghi, Seghaleh, and Rangavar (2013)) while others found an increase in sediment delivery with coarsening of the spatial structure (Williams, Pierson, Robichaud et al., 2016). de Vente, Poesen, Arabkhedri, and Verstraeten (2007) proposed explanations for these conflicting results at broad watershed scales but concluded that overall watershed area is a poor predictor of area-specific sediment yield which is rather controlled by the relative dominance of specific erosion processes.

The more fundamental problem might be that erosion science today has provided ample data-based understanding of detachment and transport processes but has rarely specifically targeted deposition due to lack of simple adequate tools to quantify this process. In the Di Stefano et al. (2013) study for example, much of the eroded material in rills may have been deposited within the field, likely leading to the higher-than-one contribution of rills measured in this study. Recent work from Nouwakpo, Weltz, Champa and Fisher (in press) suggests that concentrated flow contributions estimated with three-dimensional reconstruction on a semi-arid vegetated hillslope were several orders of magnitude lower than predicted with RHEM (version 2.2) even though the experimental data showed a statistically significant association between channel volumes and sediment concentration. Currently, hydraulic parameters and soil properties are key factors in governing the processes of soil deposition along the hillslope. Unlike concentrated flow detachment, the process of deposition along the



**Fig. 5.** Release of a dye plume illustrating how runoff is redirect by vegetation clumps resulting in increased touristy and reduced sediment transport capacity.



**Fig. 6.** Illustration of the effect of vegetation on soil surface microtopography showing a synoptic image of a  $6 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ m}$  erosion plot (a) and a digital elevation model of the relative elevation in the plot (b).

hillslope in Eq. (11) is obtained from the WEPP model. This equation or concept has not been evaluated on rangeland yet. Perhaps improving understanding of the mechanics of deposition processes from measurements specifically targeting this surface process would help develop a more complete prediction tool for deposition. This experimental work would be useful to evaluate the validity of current deposition equations or develop other more appropriate approaches for modeling deposition on rangeland.

It is possible that on undisturbed rangeland hillslopes, the amount of erosion produced by rill-forming processes might be low but the presence of a rill network might substantially influence sediment delivery (Nouwakpo et al., in press). Knowledge on the feedback between interrill sediment delivery and concentrated flow processes is needed to improve hydrology and erosion modeling on rangeland. In many sparsely-vegetated rangelands, vegetation naturally structures runoff into the interspace between plants (Fig. 5). In these ecosystems, the soil supporting vegetated patches is often elevated compared to the surrounding area (Fig. 6) resulting in runoff being forced to flow between patches. Currently, flow concentration pathways are perceived as resource loss vessels that need to be minimized on both rangelands and croplands. This negative perception of channel network might limit a complete understanding of the role played by these processes on rangelands. A recent research in the Argentinian Dry Chaco woodlands (Magliano, Breshears, Fernandez, & Jobbagy, 2015) showed that rainfall intensity controlled runoff/runon redistribution patterns with sparsely vegetated rangeland patches were more effective than densely vegetated patches at capturing moisture under low intensity events while the denser patches performed better under high intensity events. While this study did not specifically address the role of concentrated flow erosion in the resource redistribution, it certainly highlights the sensitivity of rangeland ecosystems to resource redistribution. More research is needed to further clarify linkages between concentrated flow processes and resource redistribution mechanisms on rangelands.

### References

- Abrahams, A. D., & Parsons, A. J. (1991). Resistance to overland flow on desert pavement and its implications for sediment transport modeling. *Water Resources Research*, 27, 1827–1836.
- Abrahams, A. D., & Parsons, A. J. (1994). Hydraulics of interrill overland flow on stone-covered desert surfaces. *Catena*, 23, 111–140.
- Abrahams, A. D., Parsons, A. J., & Wainwright, J. (1995). Effects of vegetation change on interrill runoff and erosion, Walnut Gulch, southern Arizona. *Geomorphol*ogy, 13, 37–48.
- Akhtar, A., Yazar, A., Abdul, A. A., Aal, T., Oweis, & Hayek, P. (2010). Micro-catchment water harvesting potential of an arid environment. *Agricultural Water Management*, 98, 96–104.
- Akhtar, A., Oweis, T., Aal, A., Mudabbar, M., Zubaidi, K., & Bruggeman, A. (2006). The Vallerani water harvesting system. ICARDA caravan no. 23, (p. 3).
- Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Pierson, F. B., Nearing, M. A., Stone, J. J., Williams, C. J., Moffet, C. A., ... Weltz, M. A. (2012a). Characteristics of concentrated flow hydraulics for rangeland ecosystems: implications for hydrologic modeling. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 37(2), 157–168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.2227.
- Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Pierson, F. B., Nearing, M. A., Williams, C. J., Stone, J. J., Kormos, P. R., ... Weltz, M. A. (2012b). Concentrated flow erodibility for physically based erosion models: temporal variability in disturbed and undisturbed rangelands. Water Resources Research (p. 48), 48. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2011wr011464.
- Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Pierson, F. B., Nearing, M. A., Williams, C. J., Stone, J. J., Kormos, P. R., ... Weltz, M. A. (2013). Risk assessment of erosion from concentrated flow on rangelands using overland flow distribution and shear stress partitioning. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers*, 56, 539–548.
- Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Hernandez, M., Pierson, F. B., Nearing, M. A., Williams, C. J., Stone, J. J., & Weltz, M. A. (2015). Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model (RHEM) enhancements for applications on disturbed conditions. *Hydrological Processes*, 29, 445–457.
- Belnap, J., Wilcox, B. P., Van Scoyoc, M. W., & Phillips, S. L. (2013). Successional stage of biological soil crusts: an accurate indicator of ecohydrological condition. *Ecohydrology*, 6, 474–482. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eco.1281.
- Belnap, J., Welter, J. R., Grimm, N. B., Barger, N., & Ludwig, J. A. (2005). Linkages between microbial and hydrologic processes in arid and semiarid watersheds. *Ecology*, 86, 298–307.
- Bergkamp, G. (1998). A hierarchical view of the interactions of runoff and infiltration with vegetation and microtopography in semiarid shrublands. *Catena*, 33(3–4), 201–220. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0341–8162(98)00092–7.
- Bhark, E. W., & Small, E. E. (2003). Association between plant canopies and the spatial patterns of infiltration in shrubland and grassland of the Chihuahuan Desert, New Mexico. *Ecosystems*, 6(2), 185–196. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10021–002-0210–9.
- Blackburn, W. H. (1975). Factors influencing infiltration and sediment production of semiarid rangelands in Nevada. Water Resources Research, 11, 929–937.
- Blackburn, W. H. (1980). Universal soil loss equation and rangelands. In ASCE (Ed.), ASCESymposium on Watershed Management (pp. 164–175). Boise, ID.
   Bryan, R. B. (2000). Soil erodibility and processes of water erosion on hillslope.
- Geomorphology, 32, 385–415.
- Buis, E., & Veldkamp, A. (2008). Modelling dynamic water redistribution patterns in arid catchments in the Negev Desert of Israel. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 33(1), 107–122. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.1531.
- Caldwell, T. G., Young, M. H., McDonald, E. V., & Zhu, J. T. (2012). Soil heterogeneity in Mojave Desert shrublands: Biotic and abiotic processes. *Water Resources Research*, 48, 12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2012wr011963.
- Cammeraat, L. H., & Imeson, A. C. (1998). Deriving indicators of soil degradation from soil aggregation studies in southeastern Spain and southern France. *Geomorphology*, 23, 307–321.
- Carlyle-Moses, D. E. (2004). Throughfall, stemflow, and canopy interception loss fluxes in a semi-arid Sierra Madre Oriental matorral community. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 58, 181–202.
- Cerdà, A. (1998). Soil aggregate stability under different Mediterranean vegetation types. *Catena*, 32, 73–86.
- Cerda, A. (1997). The effect of patchy distribution of Stipa tenacissima L on runoff and erosion. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 36(1), 37–51. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1006/jare.1995.0198.
- Daggupati, P., Douglas-Mankin, K. R., & Sheshukov, A. Y. (2013). Predicting ephemeral gully location and length using topographic index models. *Trans*actions of the Asabe, 56(4), 1427–1440.
- Davenport, D. W., Breshears, D. D., Wilcox, B. P., & Allen, C. D. (1998). Viewpoint: sustainability of pinon-juniper ecosystems: a unifying perspective of soil erosion thresholds. *Journal of Range Management*, 51, 231–240.
- De Ploey, J. (1984). Stemflow and colluviation: modeling and implications.

Pedologie, 2, 135-146.

- De Roo, A., Wesseling, C., Cremers, N., Offermans, R., Ritsema, C., & Van Oostindie, K. (1994). LISEM: a new physically-based hydrological and soil erosion model in a GIS-environment, theory and implementation. In *IAHS Publications-Series of Proceedings and Reports-Intern Assoc Hydrological Sciences* (pp. 439–448). Vol. 224.
- DeBano, L. F. (1971). The effect of hydrophobic substances on water movement in soil during infiltration. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings, 35, 340–343.
- Dewitte, O., Daoudi, M., Bosco, C., & Van Den Eeckhaut, M. (2015). Predicting the susceptibility to gully initiation in data-poor regions. *Geomorphology*, 228, 101–115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2014.08.010.
- Di Stefano, C., Ferro, V., Pampalone, V., & Sanzone, F. (2013). Field investigation of rill and ephemeral gully erosion in the Sparacia experimental area, South Italy. *Catena*, 101, 226–234. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2012.10.012.
- Doerr, S. H., Shakesby, R. A., & Walsh, R. P. D. (2000). Soil water repellency: its causes, characteristics and hydro-geomorphological significance. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 51, 33–65.
- Dunkerley, D. (2000). Measuring interception loss and canopy storage in dryland vegetation: a brief review and evaluation of available research strategies. *Hydrological Processes*, 14, 669–678.
- Dunkerley, D. (2002). Infiltration rates and soil moisture in a groved mulga community near Alice Springs, arid central Australia: evidence for complex internal rainwater redistribution in a runoff-runon landscape. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 51, 199–219.
- Dunkerley, D. L. (2008). Intra-storm evaporation as a component of canopy interception loss in dryland shrubs: Observations from Fowlers Gap, Australia. Hydrological Processes, 22, 1985–1995.
- Eldridge, D. J., Rosentreter, R., Hild, A., Shaw, N., Meyer, S., Booth, T., & McArthur, D. (2004). Shrub mounds enhance water flow in a shrub-steppe community in southwestern Idaho, USA. Seed and soil dynamics in shrubland ecosystems. 31. Ogden, Utah: USDA Forest Service RMRS-P.
- Elliot, W., & Laflen, J. (1993). A process-based rill erosion model. *Transactions of the* ASAE, 36(1), 65–72.
- Emmett, W. W. (1970). The hydraulics of overland flow on hillslopes (p. 66). United States Geological Survey, Professional paper 662A.
- Fair, G. M., Geyer, J. C., & Okun, D. A. (1971). Water supply and wastewater disposal (p. 973) New York: John Wiley And Sons.
- Felegari, M., Talebi, A., Dastorani, M. T., & Rangavar, A. S. (2014). Efficiency Assessment of Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model (RHEM) for [water erosion quantification (Case Study: Sangane Watershed-Iran)]. International Journal of Environmental Resources Research, 2(2), 134–146.
- Foster, G., Huggins, L., & Meyer, L. (1984aa). A laboratory study of rill hydraulics: I. velocity relationships. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 27(3), 790–0796.
- Foster, G., Huggins, L., & Meyer, L. (1984bb). A laboratory study of rill hydraulics: II. shear stress relationships. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 27(3), 797–0804.
- Foster, G. R. (1982aa). Modeling the erosion process. Hydrologic Modeling of Small Watersheds (pp. 295–380), 295–380.
- Foster, G. R. (1982bb). Modeling the erosion process. Hydrologic Modeling of Small Watersheds (pp. 297–380), 297–380.
- Foster, G. R., Simanton, J. R., Renard, K. G., Lane, L. J., & Osborn, H. B. (1981). Application of the Universal Soil Loss Equation to rangelands on a per-storm basis Discussion. *Journal of Range Management*, 34(2), 161–165. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3898140.
- Gammon, I. A., & Oweis, T. Y. (2011). Performance and adaptation of the Vallerani mechanized water harvesting system in degraded Badia rangelands. *Environmental Science and Engineering*, 5, 1370–1380.
- Geeraert, N., Omengo, F. O., Tamooh, F., Paron, P., Bouillon, S., & Govers, G. (2015). Sediment yield of the lower Tana River, Kenya, is insensitive to dam construction: sediment mobilization processes in a semi-arid tropical river system. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 40(13), 1827–1838. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/esp.3763.
- Gifford, G. F. (1985). Cover allocation in rangeland watershed management (a review) In: E. B. Jones, & J. T. Ward (Eds.), Watershed management in the Eighties (pp. 23–31). New York: American Society of Civil Engineers.
- Gilley, J. E., Kottwitz, E. R., & Simanton, J. R. (1990). Hydraulic characteristics of rills. *Transactions of the Asae*, 33(6), 1900–1906.
   Giménez, R., & Govers, G. (2001). Interaction between bed roughness and flow
- Giménez, R., & Govers, G. (2001). Interaction between bed roughness and flow hydraulics in eroding rills. *Water Resources Research*, 37(3), 791–799.
- Giménez, R., & Govers, G. (2002). Flow detachment by concentrated flow on smooth and irregular beds. Soilless Science Society of America Journal, 66(5), 1475–1483.
- Gimenez, R., Planchon, O., Silvera, N., & Govers, G. (2004). Longitudinal velocity patterns and bed morphology interaction in a rill. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 29(1), 105–114. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.1021.
- Gourdin, E., Evrard, O., Huon, S., Reyss, J. L., Ribolzi, O., Bariac, T., ... Ayrault, S. (2014). Spatial and temporal variability of Be-7 and Pb-210 wet deposition during four successive monsoon storms in a catchment of northern Laos. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 136, 195–205. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2014.06.008.
- Govers, G. (1992). Relationship between discharge, velocity and flow area for rills eroding in loose, non-layered materials. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 17(5), 515–528. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.3290170510.
- Govers, G., & Poesen, J. (1988). Assessment of the interrill and rill contributions to total soil loss from an upland field plot. *Geomorphology*, 1, 343–354. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/0169–555X(88)90006–2.

- Govers, G., Giménez, R., & Van Oost, K. (2007). Rill erosion: exploring the relationship between experiments, modelling and field observations. *Earth-Sci*ence Reviews, 84, 87–102.
- Hairsine, P., & Rose, C. (1992). Modeling water erosion due to overland flow using physical principles: 2. rill flow. Water Resources Research, 28(1), 245–250.
- Hamilton, E. L., & Rowe, P.B. (1949). Rainfall interception by chaparral in California. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry, with the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station (p. 43).
- Hart, G. E. (1984). Erosion from simulated rainfall on mountain rangeland in Utah. Journal of Soilless and Water Conservation, 39(5), 330–334.
- Hassan, R., Scholes, R., & Ash, N. (2005). Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Hernandez, M., Nearing, M. A., Stone, J. J., Pierson, F. B., Wei, H., Spaeth, K. E., & Goodrich, D. C. (2013). Application of a rangeland soil erosion model using National Resources Inventory data in southeastern Arizona. *Journal of Soilless and Water Conservation*, 68, 512–525. http://dx.doi.org/10.2489/jswc.68.6.512.
- Hessel, R., Jetten, V., & Guanghui, Z. (2003). Estimating Manning's n for steep slopes. Catena, 54(1), 77–91.
- Imeson, A. C., & Verstraten, J. M. (1989). The microaggregation and erodibility of some semi-arid and Mediterranean soils. *Catena*, 14, 11–24.
- Imeson, A. C., Lavee, H., Calvo, A., & Cerdà, A. (1998). The erosional response of calcareous soils along a climatological gradient in southeast Spain. *Geomorphology*, 24, 3–16.
- Jha, A., Schkade, U., & Kirchner, G. (2015). Estimating short-term soil erosion rates after single and multiple rainfall events by modelling the vertical distribution of cosmogenic Be-7 in soils. *Geoderma*, 243, 149–156. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.geoderma.2014.12.020.
- Johnson, C. W., Savabi, M. R., & Loomis, S. A. (1984). Rangeland erosion measurements for the USLE. *Transactions of the Asae*, 27(5), 1313–1320.
- Julien, P. Y., & Simons, D. B. (1985). Sediment transport capacity of overland flow. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 28(3), 755–762.
- Kaste, J. M., Elmore, A. J., Vest, K. R., & Okin, G. S. (2011). Beryllium-7 in soils and vegetation along an arid precipitation gradient in Owens Valley, California.
- Geophysical Research Letters (p. 38), 38. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2011gl047242. Kinnell, P. I. A. (2005). Raindrop-impact-induced erosion processes and prediction: a review. Hydrological Processes, 19, 2815–2844.
- Laflen, J. M., Lane, L. J., & Foster, G. R. (1991). WEA new generation of erosion prediction technology. Journal of Soilless and Water Conservation, 46(1), 34–38.
- Lane, L., & Foster, G. (1980). Concentrated flow relationships. CREAMS: a field-scale model for chemicals, runoff, and erosion from agricultural management systems conservation research report number 26 (p. 474–485), 4 Fig., 1 Tab, 4 Ref.
- Leighton-Boyce, G., Doerr, S. H., Shakesby, R. A., & Walsh, R. P. D. (2007). Quantifying the impact of soil water repellency on overland flow generation and erosion: a new approach using rainfall simulation and wetting agent on in situ soil. *Hydrological Processes*, 21, 2337–2345.
- Li, J., Zhao, C., Zhu, H., Li, Y., & Wang, F. (2007). Effect of plant species on shrub fertile island at an oasis-desert ecotone in the south junggar basin, china. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 71, 350–361.
- Li, J., Okin, G. S., Herrick, J. E., Belnap, J., Miller, M. E., Vest, K., & Draut, A. E. (2013). Evaluation of a new model of aeolian transport in the presence of vegetation. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, 118, 288–306. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/jgrf.20040.
- Line, D., & Meyer, L. (1988). Flow velocities of concentrated runoff along cropland furrows. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 31(5), 1430–1434.
- Line, D., & Meyer, L. (1989). Evaluating interrill and rill erodibilities for soils of different textures. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 32(6), 1995–1999.
- Liu, G., Yang, M. Y., Warrington, D. N., Liu, P. L., & Tian, J. L. (2011). Using beryllium-7 to monitor the relative proportions of interrill and rill erosion from loessal soil slopes in a single rainfall event. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 36(4), 439–448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.2057.
- Ludwig, J. A., Wilcox, B. P., Breshears, D. D., Tongway, D. J., & Imeson, A. C. (2005). Vegetation patches and runoff-erosion as interacting ecohydrological processes in semiarid landscapes. *Ecology*, 86, 288–297.
- Madsen, M. D., Chandler, D. G., & Belnap, J. (2008). Spatial gradients in ecohydrological properties within a pinyon-juniper ecosystem. *Ecohydrology*, 43(8), 349–360.
- Magliano, P. N., Breshears, D. D., Fernandez, R. J., & Jobbagy, E. G. (2015). Rainfall intensity switches ecohydrological runoff/runon redistribution patterns in dryland vegetation patches. *Ecological Applications*, 25(8), 2094–2100.
- MartinezMeza, E., & Whitford, W. G. (1996). Stemflow, throughfall and channelization of stemflow by roots in three Chihuahuan desert shrubs. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 32(3), 271–287. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jare.1996.0023.

Marzolff, I., & Poesen, J. (2009). The potential of 3d gully monitoring with gis using high-resolution aerial photography and a digital photogrammetry system. *Geomorphology*, 111, 48–60.

- Meeuwig, R. O. (1971). Infiltration and water repellency in granitic soils. Res. Paper INT-111 (p. 20). Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Meire, D., Kondziolka, J. M., & Nepf, H. M. (2014). Interaction between neighboring vegetation patches: Impact on flow and deposition. *Water Resources Research*, 50(5), 3809–3825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2013wr015070.
- Millares, A., Gulliver, Z., & Polo, M. J. (2012). Scale effects on the estimation of erosion thresholds through a distributed and physically-based hydrological model. *Geomorphology*, 153, 115–126. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. geomorph.2012.02.016.

Mitchell, J. E. & Roundtable, S. R. (2010). Criteria and indicators of sustainable rangeland management. University of Wyoming, Cooperative Extension Service.

- Moffet, C. A., Pierson, F. B., Robichaud, P. R., Spaeth, K. E., & Hardegree, S. P. (2007). Modeling soil erosion on steep sagebrush rangeland before and after prescribed fire. *Catena*, 71(2), 218–228. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2007.03.008.
- Moore, I. D., & Burch, G. J. (1986). Sediment transport capacity of sheet and rill flow: application to unit stream power theory. *Water Resources Research*, 22(8), 1350–1360. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/WR022i008p01350.
- Morgan, R., Quinton, J., Smith, R., Govers, G., Poesen, J., Auerswald, K., ... Styczen, M. (1998). The European Soil Erosion Model (EUROSEM): a dynamic approach for predicting sediment transport from fields and small catchments. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 23(6), 527–544.
- Nearing, M., Foster, G., Lane, L., & Finkner, S. (1989). A process-based soil erosion model for USDA-Water Erosion Prediction Project technology. *Trans ASAE*, 32 (5), 1587–1593.
- Nearing, M., Norton, L., Bulgakov, D., Larionov, G., West, L., & Dontsova, K. (1997). Hydraulics and erosion in eroding rills. *Water Resources Research*, 33(4), 865–876.
- Nearing, M. A., Simanton, J. R., Norton, L. D., Bulygin, S. J., & Stone, J. (1999). Soil erosion by surface water flow on a stony, semiarid hillslope. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 24, 677–686.
- Nearing, M. A., Wei, H., Stone, J. J., Pierson, F. B., Spaeth, K. E., Weltz, M. A., & Hernandez, M. (2011). A rangeland hydrology and erosion model. *Transactions* of the Asabe, 54(3), 901–908.
- Nichols, M. H., Nearing, M. A., Polyakov, V. O., & Stone, J. J. (2013). A sediment budget for a small semiarid watershed in southeastern Arizona, USA. *Geomorphology*, 180, 137–145. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2012.10.002.
- Nouwakpo, S. K., Weltz, M., Champa, T., & Fisher, J. (2016). Performance of the Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model for runoff and erosion assessment on a semi-arid reclaimed construction site. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 71(3), 220–236. http://dx.doi.org/10.2489/jswc.71.3.220.
   Nulsen, R. A., Bligh, K. J., Baxter, I. N., Solin, E. J., & Imrie, D. H. (1986). The fate of
- Nulsen, R. A., Bligh, K. J., Baxter, I. N., Solin, E. J., & Imrie, D. H. (1986). The fate of rainfall in a mallee and heath vegetated catchment in southern Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, *11*(4), 361–371. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1442–9993.1986.tb01406.x.
- Nyssen, J., Poesen, J., Veyret-Picot, M., Moeyersons, J., Haile, M., Deckers, J., ... Govers, G. (2006). Assessment of gully erosion rates through interviews and measurements: a case study from northern ethiopia. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 31, 167–185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.1317.
- Owens, M. K., Lyons, R. K., & Alejandro, C. L. (2006). Rainfall partitioning within semiarid juniper communities: effects of event size and canopy cover. *Hydrological Processes*, 20, 3179–3189.
- Parsons, A. J., Abrahams, A. D., & Simanton, J. R. (1992). Microtopography and soilsurface materials on semi-arid piedmont hillslopes, southern Arizona. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 22, 107–115.
- Parsons, A. J., Abrahams, A. D., & Wainwright, J. (1994). Rainsplash and erosion rates in an interrill area on semi-arid grassland, Southern Arizona. *Catena*, 22, 215–226.
- Parsons, A. J., Abrahams, A. D., & Wainwright, J. (1996). Responses of interrill runoff and erosion rates to vegetation change in southern Arizona. *Geomorphology*, 14, 311–317.
- Pellant, M., Shaver, P., Pyke, D. & Herrick, J. (2005). Interpreting indicators of rangeland health – version 4. Technical Reference 1734-6 U. S. Bur. Land Mgmt. National Science and Technology Center Denver, CO, BLM/WO/ST-00/ 001 + 1734/rev05 (p. 122).
- Pierson, F. B., & Williams, C. J. (2016). Ecohydrologic impacts of rangeland fire on runoff and erosion: a literature synthesis (p. 200) Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station.
- Pierson, F. B., Bates, J. D., Svejcar, T. J., & Hardegree, S. P. (2007). Runoff and erosion after cutting western juniper. Rangeland Ecology and Management, 60, 285–292.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Kormos, P. R., & Al-Hamdan, O. Z. (2014). Short-term effects of tree removal on infiltration, runoff, and erosion in woodland-encroached sagebrush steppe. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 67, 522–538.
- Pierson, F. B., Moffet, C. A., Williams, C. J., Hardegree, S. P., & Clark, P. E. (2009). Prescribed-fire effects on rill and interrill runoff and erosion in a mountainous sagebrush landscape. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*. 34, 193–203.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Kormos, P. R., Hardegree, S. P., Clark, P. E., & Rau, B. M. (2010). Hydrologic vulnerability of sagebrush steppe following pinyon and juniper encroachment. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 63, 614–629.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Hardegree, S. P., Weltz, M. A., Stone, J. J., & Clark, P. E. (2011). Fire, plant invasions, and erosion events on western rangelands. *Ran*geland Ecology and Management, 64, 439–449.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Hardegree, S. P., Clark, P. E., Kormos, P. R., & Al-Hamdan, O. Z. (2013a). Hydrologic and erosion responses of sagebrush steppe following juniper encroachment, wildfire, and tree cutting. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 66(3), 274–289 Doi:10.2111/rem-d-12-00104.1.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Hardegree, S. P., Clark, P. E., Kormos, P. R., & Al-Hamdan, O. Z. (2013b). Hydrologic and erosion responses of sagebrush steppe following juniper encroachment, wildfire, and tree-cutting. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 66, 274–289.
- Pierson, F. B., Williams, C. J., Kormos, P. R., Hardegree, S. P., Clark, P. E., & Al-Hamdan, O. Z. (2015). Short-term impacts of tree removal on runoff and erosion from pinyon- and juniper-dominated sagebrush hillslopes. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 68, 408–422.
- Pierson, F. B., Robichaud, P. R., Moffet, C. A., Spaeth, K. E., Williams, C. J., Hardegree, S. P., & Clark, P. E. (2008a). Soil water repellency and infiltration in coarse-

textured soils of burned and unburned sagebrush ecosystems. Catena, 74, 98-108

- Pierson, F. B., Robichaud, P. R., Moffet, C. A., Spaeth, K. E., Hardegree, S. P., Clark, P. E., & Williams, C. J. (2008b). Fire effects on rangeland hydrology and erosion in a steep sagebrush-dominated landscape. *Hydrological Processes*, 22, 2916–2929.
- Pierson, F.B.; Van Vactor, S.S.; Blackburn, W.H.; Wood, J.C. 1994. Incorporating small scale spatial variability into predictions of hydrologic response on sagebrush rangelands. In: Blackburn, W.H.; Pierson, F.B.; Schuman, G.E.; Zartman, R., eds. Variability in rangeland water erosion processes. Soil Science Society of America Special Publication 38. Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America: 23–33.
- Porto, P., & Walling, D. E. (2014). Use of Be-7 measurements to estimate rates of soil loss from cultivated land: Testing a new approach applicable to individual storm events occurring during an extended period. Water Resources Research, 50(10), 8300–8313. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2014wr015867.
- Puigdefabregas, J., Sole, A., Gutierrez, L., del Barrio, G., & Boer, M. (1999). Scales and processes of water and sediment redistribution in drylands: results from the Rambla Honda field site in Southeast Spain. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 48(1–2), 39–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0012–8252(99)00046-x.
- Reid, K. D., Wilcox, B. P., Breshears, D. D., & MacDonald, L. (1999). Runoff and erosion in a piñon-juniper woodland: Influence of vegetation patches. Soilless Science Society of America Journal, 63, 1869–1879.
- Ridolfi, L., Laio, F., & D'Odorico, P. (2008). Fertility island formation and evolution in dryland ecosystems. *Ecology and Society*, 13, 13.
- Rominger, J. T., & Nepf, H. M. (2011). Flow adjustment and interior flow associated with a rectangular porous obstruction. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 680, 636–659. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/jfm.2011.199.
- Rowe, P. B. (1948). Influence of woodland chaparral on water and soil in central California. [N.p.]: State of California Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry, in cooperation with the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, California Forest and Range Experiment Station (p. 70).
- Sadeghi, S. H. R., Seghaleh, M. B., & Rangavar, A. S. (2013). Plot sizes dependency of runoff and sediment yield estimates from a small watershed. *Catena*, 102, 55–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2011.01.003.
- Schlesinger, W. H., Raikes, J. A., Hartley, A. E., & Cross, A. F. (1996). On the spatial pattern of soil nutrients in desert ecosystems. *Ecology*, 77, 364–374.
- Schlesinger, W. H., Reynolds, J. F., Cunningham, G. L., Huenneke, L. F., Jarrell, W. M., Virginia, R. A., & Whitford, W. G. (1990). Biological feedbacks in global desertification. *Science*, 247(4946), 1043–1048.
- Seyfried, M. S. (1991). Infiltration patterns from simulated rainfall on a semiarid rangeland soil. Soilless Science Society of America Journal, 55, 1726–1736.
- Shakesby, R. A., & Doerr, S. H. (2006). Wildfire as a hydrological and geomorphological agent. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 74, 269–307.
- Skau, C. M. (1964). Interception, throughfall, and stemflow in Utah and alligator juniper cover types in northern Arizona. Forest Science, 10, 283–287.
- Spaeth, K., Weltz, M. A., Fox, H. D., & Pierson, F. B. (1994). Spatial pattern analysis of sagebrush vegetation and potential influences on hydrology and erosion In: W. H. Blackburn, F. B. Pierson, G. E. Schuman, & R. E. Zartman (Eds.), Variability of rangeland water erosion processes (pp. 35–50). Madison, Wisconsin: Soil Science Society of America. Special Publicatio.
- Spaeth, K. E., Pierson, F. B., Weltz, M. A., & Blackburn, W. H. (2003). Evaluation of USLE and RUSLE estimated soil loss on rangeland. *Journal of Range Management*, 56(3), 234–246. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/4003812.
- Taucer, P. I., Munster, C. L., Wilcox, B. P., Owens, M. K., & Mohanty, B. P. (2008). Large-scale rainfall simulation experiments of juniper rangelands. Transactions of the American. Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, 51, 1951–1961.
- Thornes, J. B. (1980). Erosional processes of running water and their spatial and temporal controls: a theoretical viewpoint In: M. J. Kirkby, & R. P.C. Morgan (Eds.), *Soil erosion* (pp. 129–182). Norwich, UK: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- Tongway, D. J., & Ludwig, J. A. (1997). The nature of landscape dysfunction in rangelands. Landscape ecology, function and management: principles from Australia's rangelands (pp. 49–61), 49–61.
- Trieste, D. J., & Gifford, G. F. (1980). Application of the Universal Soil Loss Equation to rangelands on a per-storm basis. *Journal of Range Management*, 33(1), 66–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3898231.
- Tromble, J. M. (1983). Interception of rainfall by tarbush. *Journal of Range Management*, 36, 525–526.
- Urgeghe, A. M., Breshears, D. D., Martens, S. N., & Beeson, P. C. (2010). Redistribution of runoff among vegetation patch types: on ecohydrological optimality of herbaceous capture of run-on. *Rangeland ecology & management*, 63, 497–504.
- Vandaele, K., Poesen, J., Govers, G., & Wesemael, B. (1996). Geomorphic threshold conditions for ephemeral gully incision. *Geomorphology*, 16(2), 161–173.
   de Vente, J., Poesen, J., Arabkhedri, M., & Verstraeten, G. (2007). The sediment delivery
- de Vente, J., Poesen, J., Arabkhedri, M., & Verstraeten, G. (2007). The sediment delivery problem revisited. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 31(2), 155–178. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1177/0309133307076485.
- Virginia, R. A., & Jarrell, W. M. (1983). Soil properties in a mesquite-dominated sonoran desert ecosystem. Soilless Science Society of America Journal, 47(1), 138–144.
- Wainwright, J., Parsons, A. J., & Abrahams, A. D. (1999). Rainfall energy under creosotebush. Journal of Arid Environments, 43, 111–120.
- Wainwright, J., Parsons, A. J., & Abrahams, A. D. (2000). Plot-scale studies of vegetation, overland flow and erosion interactions: case studies from Arizona and New Mexico. *Hydrological Processes*, 14, 2921–2943.
- Walling, D. E. (2013). Beryllium-7: The Cinderella of fallout radionuclide sediment tracers? Hydrological Processes, 27(6), 830–844. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ hyp.9546.

Weisheng, X., & Tingwu, L. (2002). The elementary dynamics analysis of rill flow. In Proceedings of the 12th ISCO Conference. Beijing.

- Weltz, M. A., Kidwell, M. R., & Fox, H. D. (1998). Invited synthesis paper: influence of abiotic and biotic factors in measuring and modeling soil erosion on rangelands: state of knowledge. *Journal of Range Management*, 51(5), 482–495. http://dx.doi. org/10.2307/4003363.
- Weltz, M. A., Jolley, L., Hernandez, M., Spaeth, K. E., Rossi, C., Talbot, C., ... Morris, C. (2014). Estimating conservation needs for rangelands using USDA National Resources Inventory Assessments. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers*, 57(6), 1559–1570.
- Whitford, W. G., Anderson, J., & Rice, P. M. (1997). Stemflow contribution to the "fertile island" effect in creosotebush, Larrea tridentata. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 35, 451–457.
- Wilcox, B., Davenport, D., Pitlick, J., & Allen, C. (1996). Runoff and erosion from a rapidly eroding pinyon-juniper hillslope. NM (United States): Los Alamos National Lab.
- Wilcox, B. P., Breshears, D. D., & Allen, C. D. (2003). Ecohydrology of a resourceconserving semiarid woodland: effects of scale and disturbance. *Ecological Monographs*, 73, 223–239.
- Williams, C. J., Pierson, F. B., Robichaud, P. R., & Boll, J. (2014b). Hydrologic and erosion responses to wildfire along the rangeland-xeric forest continuum in the western US: a review and model of hydrologic vulnerability. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 23, 155–172.
- Williams, C. J., Pierson, F. B., Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Kormos, P. R., Hardegree, S. P., & Clark, P. E. (2014a). Can wildfire serve as an ecohydrologic threshold-reversal mechanism on juniper-encroached shrublands. *Ecohydrology*, 7, 453–477.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eco.1364.

- Williams, C. J., Pierson, F. B., Robichaud, P. R., Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Boll, J., & Strand, E. K. (2016a). Structural and functional connectivity as a driver of hillslope erosion following disturbance. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 25, 306–321. http://dx. doi.org/10.1071/WF14114.
- Williams, C. J., Pierson, F. B., Spaeth, K. E., Brown, J. R., Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Weltz, M. A., ... Nichols, M. H. (2016b). Incorporating hydrologic data and ecohydrologic relationships into Ecological Site Descriptions. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 69, 4–19.
- Wilson, C. G., Papanicolaou, A. N. T., & Denn, K. D. (2012). Partitioning fine sediment loads in a headwater system with intensive agriculture. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 12(6), 966–981. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11368-012-0504-2.
- Wilson, C. G., Kuhnle, R. A., Dabney, S. M., Lerch, R. N., Huang, C. H., King, K. W., & Livingston, S. J. (2014). Fine sediment sources in Conservation Effects Assessment Project watersheds. *Journal of Soilless and Water Conservation*, 69(5), 402–413. http://dx.doi.org/10.2489/jswc.69.5.402.
- Wirtz, S., Seeger, M., Zell, A., Wagner, C., Wagner, J. F., & Ries, J. B. (2013). Applicability of different hydraulic parameters to describe soil detachment in eroding rills. *PLoS One*, 8(5)), http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0064861.
- Wondzell, S. M., & King, J. G. (2003). Postfire erosional processes in the pacific northwest and rocky mountain regions. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 178, 75–87. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0378–1127(03)00054–9.
- Yang, M. Y., Walling, D. E., Tian, J. L., & Liu, P. L. (2006). Partitioning the contributions of sheet and rill erosion using beryllium-7 and cesium-137. Soilless Science Society of America Journal, 70(5), 1579–1590. http://dx.doi.org/10.2136/ sssaj2005.0295.